IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant

Case No: SC08-1423

Lower Tribunal: 2006-10,783 (13B)

2006-11,698 (13B)

V.

R. PATRICK MIRK

Petitioner/Respondent

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respectfully Submitted by: R. Patrick Mirk, Esquire Petitioner/Respondent Post Office Box 18201 Tampa, Florida 33679-8201 (813) 837-0131 (813) 839-6706 (Fax) Florida Bar No. 356621

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

Statement of the Facts

Respondent, R. Patrick Mirk, hereafter referred to as "Mirk", had a long-standing relationship with the complaining party, Frank C. Bragano, hereafter referred to as "Bragano". [T 195]. The representation included personal affairs of Bragano, litigation and transactional work for his corporations and work for his business associates and partners. [T 587-588]. The representation covered at least 16 years [T 195].

Many, but not all of the matters had written fee agreements. [T 589-591]. A number of examples were introduced at the hearing. [R 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22]. Each of the contracts contained retaining lien language.

In early June 2004 Bragano and his partner Andrew Lynch came to Mirk with a number of new matter due to a dispute with another attorney, Curran Porto, who was working on several condo projects in Miami for Bragano, Lynch and others. [T 595]. In a matter of weeks, Mirk resolved the dispute and Porto disbursed funds to Mirk's trust account to settle the dispute [T 599]. In late June 2004 Mirk wrote checks to Bragano, Lynch and a third partner, George Donald, disbursing their shares of the proceeds.

[R 8]. Bragano did not cash his check, which totaled \$31,487.50 [R 8].

After the Meridian dispute with Porto was resolved, Bragano approached Mirk with a new project on June 28, 2004 concerning the formation of four limited liability companies and the securing of a series of four \$200 million loans for four projects. [T 619 – 623]. Mirk kept written notes of the meeting [R 109]. The original notes were presented at trial [T 617]. These notes were explicit, and the various persons, transactions, corporate names, amounts involved, etc., all are reflected in the numerous corporate documents, transaction documents, and transmittal documents that were introduced into evidence without objection. [R 10, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 48, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95 96, 97, 98, 99 and 100].

According to the precise and explicit testimony of Mirk, the fee for the services to be performed was \$40,000.00 per bond. This fee is set out in the notes and in numerous invoices and letters issued over the next several years. [R 25, 43, 49, 50, 98, TFB 3, TFB 4]. It never varies. There is no contradiction that the only LLC for which a bond was approved was the first LLC, Montpelier. [R 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98 & 99]. The loan was approved [R 93] and the closing set for July 28, 2004. [R 97].

Bragano and the other members elected not to close the loan and the

loan was sold to another company. [T 647 - 648]. Mirk was not informed of the sale and only learned that the closing was cancelled when the bond agent called asking for instructions on the escrow deposit. [T 649].

When the LLC's were discussed in June 2004 Mirk expected his \$40,000.00 fee to be paid at the bond closing. [T 623]. Mirk was not the corporate attorney for Montpelier yet on June 28, 2004 [T 793], since the corporation was not formed until July 2, 2004. [T 626]. Montpelier, the first LLC to seek bond approval had a precise and unique set of members. [R 43, 96, 99; T 633, 644 – 646]. The initial members did not include Craig Green, Mirk or several others who formed new LLC's in October and November 2004. [T 645 – 646]. Mirk was not listed as receiving any percentage of ownership or any percentage of profit. There is no documentation of any kind even suggesting that Mirk's compensation for start-up and bond approval was anything other than \$40,000.00.

The corporate accountant, Rusty Zuckerman, prepared a spreadsheet showing the five year cost and expense projections for Montpelier. [R 43]. The projection showed accounting fees of \$75,000.00 per year for five years and legal fees for \$100,000.00 per year for years two through five, but \$140,000.00 for year one, the extra \$40,000.00 being for start-up and bond

approval. [T 628, 634 - 635]. These figures were not rebutted by Bragano or any other witness. These are exactly the figures referred to by Mirk in every relevant letter and document.

The Montpelier loan funding commitment for \$200 million was approved on July 8, 2004 after Mirk completed the due diligence request from the lender. [R 93]. The bond closing was set for July 28, 2004. [T 642, R 97]. Mirk sent his request for his \$40,000.00 fee to the closing agent. [T 642 – 643, R 98].

Mirk learned some weeks later that the loan and bond program had been sold by the Montpelier members to another company in Texas. The sale had been done without any notice to or consultation with Mirk, who was now the corporate attorney. Mirk received this notice when he was consulted by Sterne Agee, the bond escrow agent, concerning the refund of hundreds of thousands of dollars held in escrow. Mirk, of course, discussed this with the members of Montpelier in September 2004 and they said they would take care of his fee, and that they were looking for a new lender to use with the other LLC's. [T 650]. Mirk advised the Montpelier members that he expected to be paid from the upcoming refund from Sterne Agee.[T 653].

The program finally changed in October 2004. The remaining old

LLC's were modified to change membership. A new member, Craig Green, who had been working as a broker for a commission, was invited in. [T 678 – 682]. Another bond investment company, GEM, was found who could send funding overseas. [T 679]. Several new LLC's were formed to reflect the new members, delete one dropped member, and start a different trading program with the start-up funds until the long term project, a new project, got under way. [T 679 – 682].

A new bridge loan investor was secured who brought in his own attorney. [T 681 – 682]. This new company, Lake Geneva Holding, II, LLC, had different members, a different trading platform and a different long-term project than Montpelier. [T 681-682, TFB 118]. The compensation for the attorneys and the ownership percentages for the members were not agreed upon until November 2004. [TFB 118, 119]. Mirk's compensation for this new project and new corporation was to be a percentage of profit, not a flat fee. All the testimony and documents at the three-day hearing explicitly showed that this was true. The other attorneys were also going to receive a percentage of profit as compensation. [TFB 118-119].

In October 2004 several events occurred which led to the dispute

between Mirk and Bragano, which is still in civil litigation today.

First, Mirk became aware that Montpelier was being abandoned after the \$100 million loan was sold. The Montpelier escrow funds were being used to start a new trading platform and Mirk was not paid from this fund as expected. [T 649 – 653]. New members and their attorneys became involved in the new corporations and programs. [T 678 – 681]. Then the Craig Green home foreclosure became an issue. [T 656]. Green had been involved originally and was a member of the new LLC. Bragano wanted to help Green out and instructed Mirk to contact Green's attorney in England and offer a wire transfer of funds from the Meridian refunds, which were still in the trust account because Bragano still had not cashed the June check for \$31,487.50. Mirk did as directed. [R 12, 13, 14, T 656-658].

Mirk advised Bragano that a stop payment would have to be done on the Meridian check so that the funds would be available for transfer to Green. [T 659]. Mirk kept his handwritten notes. [T 660 – 662, R 39-41]. Mirk also transferred the funds from the Meridian account to the Montpelier account in his computer. [R 9]. The October Meridian statement was mailed to Bragano at his home address. [R 9].

In the past, Mirk would transfer funds between the various Bragano

accounts as needed and send monthly accountings. [T 670 –671]. This was done in Montpelier. [T 675, R 25]. The Montpelier and all the LLC accounts were addressed to the corporate registered address, which was also Mirk's office address. The Craig Green matter resolved itself in a few days and on October 25, 2004, Mirk began applying the trust funds, now held in the Montpelier account, to the \$40,000.00 flat fee charged on October 1, 2004. [R 25]. Funds were withdrawn as needed throughout the rest of 2004. [R 26, 27, 28 – 38]. In all, \$31,487.50 was applied, plus other funds actually paid directly to Bragano in 2004, leaving a balance due of \$8,261.72 as of December 31, 2005. [R 38].

Mirk continued to work on the new project into mid-December 2004, when Bragano, Green, and several others traveled to England to complete the trading program for Lake Geneva Holding, II, LLC. No further work was done on Montpelier after September 2004. [T 693]. Over a week went by and finally Mirk received some details of the results from the trip. [T 694]. The deal had not closed due to some insurance problem. They were planning to go back in January. Mirk noted to Bragano that the other members had still not signed any of the various compensation documents for any of the various LLC's and that the Montpelier payments were overdue

from the other members. [T 695].

Mirk wrote a letter on December 20, 2004 advising Bragano that after the October stop payment, the \$31,487.50 had been applied against the work done that year and once again requesting the LLC members to make their capital contributions so that the LLC fees and expenses could be paid. [TFB 3]. The letter once again specified the flat fee of \$40,000.00 for each LLC and bond issue and the annual \$100,000.00 fee after bond issue. The letter expressly advised Bragano that Montpelier had been invoiced \$40,000.00. Bragano never made any written reply to the letter. [T 697]. Mirk wrote a follow-up letter to Bragano on December 23, 2004. [TFB 4]. Bragano never sent a written response but his partner Lynch did, saying a meeting would take place in January. [T 968, TFB 47].

Despite only being partially paid, Mirk continued to work for Bragano and his various companies including the local construction company, Florida Restoration. [T 701]. In June, 2005 yet another attorney, Ricardo Roig, was hired by Bragano to sue Mirk, just as Mirk had been hired the previous June to sue Porto. [T 701]. Roig wrote a demand letter [TFB 5], and Mirk responded. [R 50].

A settlement meeting was held on August 11, 2005 attended by Mirk,

Roig, Bragano, and Lynch. [T 706]. After the meeting, Mirk sent Bragano and Roig a letter on August 23, 2005 entitled "Settlement Follow-Up". [R 49]. As does each of the previous letters by Mirk, the letter discusses the \$40,000.00 payment due for the work for Montpelier. In all the letters, notes, and billing statements concerning Montpelier the fee issue is precise, explicit and lacking in confusion. It is always \$40,000.00 and always for Montpelier. Neither Bragano nor Roig ever wrote, faxed, or sent an e-mail taking exception to the amount of the fee or that it was for work done for Montpelier. There never was any suggestion that the fee was to be some sort of percentage. However, there is ample documentation that in two later projects, one in October and one in November, there was a percentage of profit plan as compensation. These are discussed in the letters of December 20, 2004, December 23, 2004, and August 23, 2005 as well, but clearly distinguished from the fee due for Montpelier for the work done from late June through September 2004.

There was disagreement, however, as to who was responsible for the \$40,000.00. Mirk's letters clearly explain the partial fee has been taken from Bragano, but that if the corporation and its members would personally ratify and guarantee the fee, then Bragano would be refunded the \$31,000.00

applied against the \$40,000.00 fee.

Not only did Bragano and Roig not take issue with the Montpelier fee proposal, they never took issue with any of the other issues in the letter. Roig did take over certain files and Mirk continued to work on other files, just as the letter says. [T 707]. Mirk represented Florida Restoration in the Indy Mac foreclosure of Miller, both before and after the August 11, 2005 meeting. [708 – 709]. Mirk continued to represent Florida Restoration on the Miller lien case and received a settlement of \$72,500.00, which was processed through Mirk's trust account in December 2005, four months after the settlement. [T 710- 713, R 106]. Mirk did not seek to obtain the remaining \$8,000.00 fee from the proceeds and Bragano did not seek to apply Mirk's \$2,500.00 fee to the \$32,000.00 taken from trust the year before.

Mirk continued to represent Florida Restoration and Bragano personally, on the Banning Lumber case, and Bragano continued to pay Mirk for his services throughout 2006. [T 715 – 719, R 102, 103, 104, 105].

From December 2004 through June 2006, there never was a complete breakdown in the attorney-client relationship and Bragano never took any action to collect back the funds taken from trust, except through Roig's

letter, which resulted in the settlement. However, in June 2006, just two weeks before Banning Lumber was scheduled to go to trial, Bragano hired yet another new attorney, Gregory Orcutt, who filed another lawsuit for Bragano, Lynch, and Florida Restoration, against Mirk and ten other defendants over a real estate investment in Miami made in 2003 when Mirk was not handling new cases for Bragano and Curran Porto had been hired by Bragano to do so. [R 86]. Mirk called Lynch on the date the summons was served, and Lynch said he had told Orcutt not to sue Mirk. [T 722].

Mirk then called Orcutt, who said that both Lynch and Bragano told Orcutt not to sue Mirk, but Orcutt said to Mirk that he told Bragano and Lynch that he would not take the case if he could not sue Mirk. [T 723]. A review of the defendants in the case made it clear why Mirk was added: Mirk was the only defendant who provided venue in Hillsborough County. All the other defendants resided out-of-state or in south Florida. [T 723]. A review of the Complaint reveals that Mirk had no involvement at all in the underlying transaction, but was sent two documents for signatures after Porto stopped representing Bragano in late 2004. [T 723]. In the over 10,000 pages of litigation papers and documents in the case, only two faxes from others were addressed to Mirk. [T 723 – 724]. Orcutt needed venue

in Hillsborough County, but the statute of limitations had expired against Porto. In fact, when Orcutt redrafted his Complaint, he accidentally left Porto in one of the paragraphs. [T 724, R 86]. When questioned at the final hearing on this Bar matter, Bragano testified that he did not know Mirk committed malpractice in the Villa Luisa (Miami condo) case. [T 397]. Mirk filed an Emergency Motion to Withdraw from the Banning Lumber case. [R 90]. Orcutt appeared at the hearing and opposed Mirk's withdrawal from the case, as trial was so close. [T 726 – 727]. The Trial Court permitted withdrawal. Orcutt advised Bragano to file the Bar grievance a week later, [TFB 6] using the exact format as Roig's letter of June 23, 2005. Orcutt joined in a few days later [T 728].

In January 2007 Mirk filed a County Court action for his fee in Banning. [T 729, R 87]. Orcutt appeared and filed a Counterclaim. [T 730]. The Counterclaim did not seek recovery of the \$31,000.00 taken from trust.

The Villa Luisa Complaint was also amended after the Bar grievance, and no claim was made for the \$31,000.00.

In December 2006, the Bar sent a Subpoena to Mirk seeking all his trust records for all his clients for several years back. Mirk filed a written objection to the subpoena. [T 740]. The Bar never replied to the objection

and no hearing was ever held. Because Mirk was closing his office at that time and as many records were in storage, it took some time to find all of the records, records of cases completely unrelated to the Bar grievance. Mirk was suspended 98 days as a result of the Subpoena dispute. [T 741]. None of the records revealed anything not set out in Mirk's letters to the Bar.

However, the Bar's auditor, Clem Johnson, did find something he found odd in his review of Mirk's trust records. He discovered the George Miller settlement transaction in December 2005, where \$72,500.00 was processed by Mirk, \$70,000.00 going to Lynch and Bragano and \$2,500.00 going to Mirk. [T 433 – 434]. He thought this was odd if the client was not satisfied with Mirk's performance back in October 2004.

Also odd was Roig's testimony that Bragano never disputed the magnitude and quality of work done by Mirk on Montpelier and expressly stated that Mirk was entitled to compensation. [T 524].

Statement of the Case

This matter commenced on June 16, 2006 when Bragano filed a complaint with the Florida Bar. The complaint was assigned to a local grievance committee which committee designated its lay member to be the investigating member. Mirk explained his position in the letters to the Bar,

and repeatedly asked to meet with the committee. The committee did not ever meet with Mirk.

The lay member did speak with Mirk, and Mirk explained the fee issue and the retaining lien law. The lay member stated that the fee dispute did not matter, as Mirk did not have written permission to take the funds from trust. He was, of course, incorrect.

Mirk repeatedly asked to meet with Bar counsel to discuss the matter, but the Bar counsel not only didn't meet with Mirk, he didn't reply to the telephone calls or letters.

Finally, after some secret meetings, the committee found probable cause and Bar counsel filed a complaint with the Supreme Court. Bar counsel later admitted that he had never actually spoken to any of the witnesses himself before filing the complaint.

The local chief judge assigned a new, inexperienced county court criminal judge as referee. The background of the referee was almost exclusively criminal law. In fact, at the conclusion of the final three-day hearing the referee made the following admission: "I don't have the business background that you gentlemen have, so a little education for me." He went on to ask for the retaining lien language in the written contracts to

be explained to him. [T 822].

When discussion came up of the <u>Mones</u> case, the referee stated: "I guess my confusion, and it's probably me." [T824]. Throughout the hearing the referee was often confused about which of the six LLC's was being discussed, and which corporate documents related to which corporation.

The final report is almost entirely word for word what was recommended by Bar counsel.

Upon this background the referee recommended disbarment despite the fact that there is still litigation pending in Circuit Court over how much fee Bragano still owes Mirk.

Respondent.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Count II, all the evidence and testimony points to a fee dispute between an attorney and his client. As there is currently civil litigation pending on this dispute, it is more properly a matter subject to a civil action than a disciplinary action.

The clear and convincing evidence does not support any compensation for the Montpelier transaction other than the flat fee sought by

As the trust funds were not for a specific purpose, it was appropriate to apply a retaining lien for unpaid fees.

Both the fee dispute and the lien dispute were settled in August 2005, and the settlement terms were documented in a letter which was never refuted.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE FEE DISPUTE IS A CIVIL MATTER AND SHOULD NOT BE THE SUBJECT OF A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING.

There is no question that the subject of the complaint filed by Bragano against Mirk stems from a fee dispute between the attorney (Mirk) and the client (Bragano) over the \$40,000.00 flat fee charged by Mirk for work on the Montpelier bond issue and charged in part against funds held in trust for Bragano, who was the original promoter of Montpelier before its formation.

There is no dispute that Mirk always requested a \$40,000.00 flat fee for his services in forming the corporation and securing the \$200 million loan guarantee. The meeting notes show it, the invoices show it, and the letters all show it.

There is no dispute that Mirk applied the \$31,487.50 in trust against the \$40,000.00 and requested payment of the balance.

There is no dispute that neither Bragano, Montpelier nor its members ever voluntarily paid any of the \$40,000.00. Even Bragano's attorney, Roig, admitted that Mirk had done the work requested and was entitled to compensation. [T 524].

The testimony and documents concerning each of the facts above were distinctly remembered, precise and explicit.

The dispute on the fee issue before the Bar complaint was filed was whether or not Bragano's partners or Montpelier itself was liable for the \$40,000.00, as opposed to Bragano alone as the promoter.

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