IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

CASE NO.: SC08-1423

TFB NO.: 2006-10,783(13B) 2006-11,698(13B)

v.

R. PATRICK MIRK,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

Henry Lee Paul Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 508373 Cynthia Lois Miller Assistant Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 887374 The Florida Bar Suite 2580 4200 George J. Bean Parkway Tampa, Florida 33607-1496 (813) 875-9821

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

Fla. Bar v. Head, _____ So.3d _____, 2010 WL 26532 (Fla. 2010) (citations omitted).

The Referee evaluated all conflicting evidence and believed the complainant and disbelieved Respondent. The Referee listened to the testimony, read the transcripts and reviewed the entire record. This is shown by the lengthy Report of Referee, which contains detailed factual findings and extensive citations to the record. The Referee thoroughly supported his findings with competent, substantial evidence. *See Head*, *supra*, at 6.

Respondent claims that "all the documents and actions of all the parties" corroborate his claimed \$40,000 fee. Initial Brief, at 21. An examination of the record, however, shows that there is no evidence to support the alleged fee agreement other than Respondent's own testimony, handwritten notes he claims to have made contemporaneously, or letters he wrote after the fact. The Referee found this evidence unpersuasive and directly contradicted by the record. RR 15.

Respondent also argues that the Referee "ignores the fact that all the written evidence supports a \$40,000 fee for Montpelier" and that "there is no written evidence that refutes it." Initial Brief, at 21. Despite the mountain of documents Respondent produced relating to Montpelier, he was unable to produce even a draft of a fee agreement. Respondent produced only a handwritten note with the words "\$40K fee—per bond" that he claimed to have made on June 28, 2004, when he initially met with Bragano to discuss the investment platform. R Exh. 109. Respondent's December 20, 2004 letter to Bragano, claiming he was entitled to a \$40,000 fee, was written long after he had stopped payment on Bragano's check and disbursed most of the Meridian funds to himself. TFBP BR 03.

Respondent claims that the Referee ignored certain evidence, which he claims supports a \$40,000 flat fee for Montpelier, including the billing records, spread sheet, note for fee to Sterne Agee [R 98], August 2005 settlement meeting and letter, and lack of response to Respondent's letters. Initial Brief, at 21. Contrary to Respondent's assertion, most of these matters were specifically addressed by the Referee, and are summarized as follows:

<u>Billing records</u>: The Referee addressed Respondent's billing records in the Report of Referee at pages 17 to 18. The \$40,000 flat fee appeared on an invoice dated October 31, 2004 on the Montpelier account, which Respondent produced during the disciplinary proceedings. R. Exh. 25. This invoice was addressed to Respondent's law office. Respondent also produced a billing statement on the Meridian account dated October 31, 2004, showing he stopped payment on the \$31,487.50 trust account check and transferred the funds to the Montpelier account the same day. This invoice was addressed to Bragano and Lynch at Bragano's home address. R Exh. 9. Bragano and Lynch testified they had never previously seen the invoices produced by Respondent during the final hearing. TR2 225; TR4 471. The Referee found the testimony of Bragano and Lynch to be convincing. RR 18. Respondent also produced invoices dated November 30, and December 31, 2004 on the Montpelier account showing the \$40,000 flat fee, also addressed to Respondent's law office address. The Referee specifically found that Bragano never saw these invoices. RR 17-18.

Spread sheet: The Referee addressed the spreadsheet (Cash Flow Analysis) in the Report of Referee at pages 15 to 16. At the final hearing, Respondent argued that this document supported the alleged \$40,000 flat fee. TR5 634-36. Respondent testified that the Analysis was prepared by the accountant for the investment project. This document contains a line item entry for "Legal acctg etc" in the amount of \$215,000 for the first year, and \$175,000 for the next three years. R Exh. 43. At the final hearing, Respondent claimed the difference represented his \$40,000 start up fee. On cross examination, Respondent was asked about statements he made during his deposition about the Cash Flow Analysis. TR6 757-58. The Referee found that in his deposition, Respondent stated he did not remember that the Cash Flow Analysis included his fees, but he had been able to "figure it out since then." RR 16, TR6 759-60. It is apparent the Referee did not find Respondent's testimony credible regarding the Cash Flow Analysis.

<u>Note to Stern Agee</u>: This handwritten note, which Respondent produced at trial, was not addressed in the Report of Referee. It is apparent that the Referee did not credit Respondent's unsubstantiated testimony regarding the note. The note appeared on a Flow of Funds Memorandum, which Respondent testified was sent to him from the closing agent at Stern Agee. R Exh. 98. Respondent stated that he wrote "Montpelier counsel fee \$40K" on the document and instructed his secretary to add this information to the document and forward it back to Stern Agee. TR5 642-43. Respondent never produced a copy of the Flow of Funds Memorandum showing that it had been revised to include his alleged \$40,000 fee.

<u>August 2005 meeting and letter</u>: Respondent claims that the matter of his fee was settled at a meeting on August 11, 2005 with Bragano, Lynch and Roig, and confirmed by a letter he wrote to Bragano dated August 23, 2005. The August 23, 2005 letter is another example of Respondent trying to substantiate the alleged \$40,000 flat fee with an after-the-fact, self-serving letter written by himself. The testimony of Bragano, Lynch and Roig contradicts Respondent's testimony and his letter. The Referee found that no resolution was reached at the August 11, 2005 meeting. RR 14. This issue is discussed more fully in Section IV of this Answer Brief.

Lack of response to Respondent's letters: Respondent argues that Bragano's

failure to respond to his letters indicates Bragano's acquiescence to the alleged fee. The Referee found that Bragano was angry at Respondent for having taken his funds, but after talking with his partners, decided not to take any action at that time. The partners felt there was too much at stake to risk Respondent taking any action that might undermine the investment platform. RR 13. Respondent's December 23, 2004 letter stated "Before you take some precipitous action from which you can't withdraw, I ask you to carefully consider what is at stake at this time." TFB Exh 4. Bragano testified that he feared Respondent would "blow up" all the work that had been done on the platform. TR2 240. When asked why he did not take action sooner, Bragano testified that "I pretty much had a muzzle put on me . . . because of the sensitivity of the trading platform." TR3 293; TR2 244.

The Referee considered all the evidence presented by Respondent and found it unpersuasive. As stated in the Report of Referee: "The evidence cited by Respondent to support the alleged flat fee agreement is not persuasive and is directly contradicted by the record. Respondent's claim of an agreement for a \$40,000 flat fee is flatly contradicted by Bragano and further undermined by the testimony of Bragano's partner Lynch, and attorney Ricardo Roig." RR 15.

The Referee's finding that Respondent was to be paid a percentage of the future profits of Montpelier is also supported by the record. The Referee credited

Bragano's testimony that Respondent would receive a percentage of the profits of Montpelier and would not be paid a flat fee. RR 18; TR2 210-11, 221-22; TR3 399-400. Lynch testified that Respondent was not owed \$40,000 for setting up Montpelier. TR4 465. Lynch understood that Respondent was to receive a percentage of future profits. TR4 454-55. The Referee found that Respondent took the risk of not being paid when he agreed to be compensated by a percentage of future profits. Respondent did not receive any percentage of profits because there were no profits. RR 19.

Respondent's efforts to establish the existence of a fee agreement were an after-the-fact attempt to justify his conversion of Bragano's trust funds. In October 2004, the Montpelier closing had not occurred and the profits had not materialized. Respondent learned that Bragano had not cashed the \$31,487.50 trust account check representing Bragano's share of the Meridian settlement. Respondent stopped payment on the check and began disbursing Bragano's funds to himself. Much later, to justify the disbursements, Respondent claimed the existence of a verbal fee agreement for a \$40,000 flat fee for work related to the Montpelier project. Respondent was unable to produce any independent evidence to support the alleged fee agreement. The Referee's findings are well supported by the evidence in the records and should be approved by this Court.

III. <u>THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT WAS</u> <u>NOT ENTITLED TO ASSERT A RETAINING LIEN ON HIS CLIENT'S</u> <u>FUNDS THAT WERE HELD IN TRUST FOR A SPECIFIC PURPOSE</u>.

Respondent argues that the Referee erred in failing to find that he was entitled to assert a retaining lien on his client's funds pursuant to *Daniel Mones*, *P.A. v. Smith*, 486 So.2d 559 (Fla. 1986). Respondent also argues that Bragano was personally liable for the alleged \$40,000 fee as the promoter of the Montpelier corporation pursuant to *Ratner v. Central National Bank of Miami*, 414 So.2d 210 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The Referee rejected both of these arguments and specifically addressed them in the Report of Referee. RR 19-22.

The Referee discussed the *Mones* case in the Report of Referee and found it was not controlling. In *Mones*, this Court held that an attorney could assert a retaining lien on a client's funds held in trust because the funds were not held for a specific purpose, distinguishing *Fla. Bar v. Bratton*, 413 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1982). *Mones*, at 561-62. In *Bratton*, this Court held that an attorney cannot impose a retaining lien on client funds entrusted to the attorney for a specific purpose where the parties have not agreed that attorney's fees should be paid out of the entrusted funds. *Bratton*, at 755. The Referee found in paragraph 67 of the Report of Referee that the facts of Mones are distinguishable from the facts of this case. The Referee stated:

Here, the funds taken by Respondent were entrusted for the specific purpose of paying the trust account check already issued. The \$31,487.50 belonging to Bragano was held in trust for a specific purpose—to honor a trust account check previously written to Bragano for his share of the Meridian settlement. . . . Put another way, Respondent disbursed trust account funds which he had already disbursed to Bragano. The funds remained in Respondent's trust account only because Bragano had not cashed the check. The evidence is clear and convincing Bragano never authorized Respondent to use the funds or to stop payment on the check. Respondent simply began disbursing Bragano's funds to himself without notice or authorization. Bragano believed the funds to be safe and available for his use at any time. RR 20-21.

Respondent's defense of a retaining lien was further undermined by the fact that he had never previously asserted a retaining lien against a client, he concealed his unauthorized disbursements from Bragano, and he failed to inform Bragano that he was asserting a retaining lien on the Meridian funds at any time during 2004, 2005, or 2006. RR 21.

Finally, the Referee rejected Respondent's argument that Bragano was personally liable for the alleged \$40,000 fee. The Referee found that there was never any agreement for payment of a \$40,000 flat fee to Respondent, but even if there were, this would have been a corporate obligation of Montpelier. Even if Respondent's version of the verbal agreement was accepted, Respondent had no right to assert a retaining lien under *Mones* because of the separate identities of Bragano, the owner of the trust funds, and of Montpelier, a corporation. RR 21.
Respondent also argues Bragano was personally responsible for the alleged fee because he was the promoter of Montpelier. Respondent cites *Ratner v*. Central National Bank of Miami, 414 So.2d 210 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), for the proposition that the promoter of a corporation remains personally responsible for the corporate debt until the corporation ratifies the debt. Respondent claims Montpelier was not incorporated until July 3, 2004. TR5 626. However, the Articles of Incorporation for Montpelier were drawn up on June 28, 2004 and Bragano signed them as Managing Member on that date. TR2 208; R Exh 92. In June 2004, Respondent met with Bragano and others to discuss the investment project, including the incorporation of Montpelier and the other LLCs. RR 7. Respondent acted as corporate counsel and advised Bragano regarding corporate matters. Bragano relied on Respondent's advice. TR2 205-09. Although Respondent now states that the corporation was not effective until July 3, 2004, he admitted he never advised Bragano that the corporation was not in effect, or that he would seek to hold Bragano personally liable for what Respondent considered Bragano's debt to him. TR6 755-56. Respondent had a stake in Montpelier, but he failed to fully explain his role to his client or document this in writing. RR 8. Although not charged with violating Rule 4-1.8(a), the rule requires that an attorney who enters into a business transaction with a client obtain his client's

consent in writing to the essential terms of the transaction, including the attorney's role in the transaction. *See* Rule 4-1.8(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Respondent's failure to do so shows a fundamental lack of concern for his client.

Respondent disbursed Bragano's trust funds to himself without Bragano's knowledge or authorization. These funds were entrusted for the specific purpose of satisfying the \$31,487.50 check previously issued to Bragano for his share of a settlement. Bragano believed the funds to be safe in Respondent's trust account until he was ready to cash the check. TR3 406-407. Respondent should not be permitted to use *Mones* and *Ratner* to justify his theft of his client's funds.

IV. RESPONDENT DID NOT "SETTLE" WITH HIS CLIENT.

Respondent argues that the Montpelier fee issue was settled with Bragano at the August 2005 meeting with Respondent, Bragano, Lynch and Roig. As evidence of this "settlement" he points to a letter he wrote dated August 23, 2005, addressed to Bragano. R Exh 49. In the letter, Respondent stated: "It is my understanding from our meeting on August 11th that you were going to provide me with either payment or written assurance of payment from each of the seven members of Montpelier totaling 40,000.00." Once again, Respondent relies on a letter written by himself, uncorroborated by independent evidence, to support the claimed \$40,000 fee. Bragano, Lynch, and Roig all testified at the final hearing that there was no agreement for a \$40,000 flat fee, and that the matter was not resolved at the August 11, 2005 meeting. TR3 277, 294; TR4 469; TR4 518. Bragano was unwavering in his testimony that Respondent stole his money and he wanted it back. TR2 244, 254; TR3 293. Bragano's complaint to The Florida Bar is further evidence that the matter had not been "settled." The Referee specifically found that no resolution was reached. RR 14, paragraph 47. The Referee's finding is supported by the evidence and should be approved.

V. DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR RESPONDENT'S CONVERSION OF HIS CLIENT'S FUNDS.

Respondent has requested this Court to reject the recommended disciplinary measures of disbarment and restitution. The Referee correctly concluded that disbarment and restitution are the appropriate sanctions for Respondent's misconduct. The Referee found insufficient mitigation to depart from the presumptive sanction of disbarment for conversion of a client's funds. The Referee's recommended sanction has a reasonable basis in the case law and Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and should be approved.

In recommending disbarment, the Referee relied on the applicable Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. RR 27. The Referee listed the following Standards in the Report of Referee:

4.1 Failure to Preserve Client's Property.

Standard 4.1 provides that, absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving the failure to preserve client property:

4.11 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

4.6 Lack of Candor

Standard 4.6 provides that, absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases where the lawyer engages in fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation directed toward a client:

4.61 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally deceives a client with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another regardless of injury or potential injury to the client.

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